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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	MICHAEL D. PLATT, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CONTINENTAL BAKING COMPANY,

 (SUNRISE   BAKERY),   

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

CONSTITUTION STATE SERVICE CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	        INTERLOCUTORY

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199025383
        AWCB Decision No. 04-0188  

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on August 4,  2004



On July 20, 2004, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s request for payment of incurred but unpaid and continuing medical expenses, expert witness fees, attorney’s fees and costs.  The employee appeared in person and was represented by Charles Coe, attorney at law.  The employer was represented by Michael A. Budzinski, attorney at law.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.

ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to medical care pursuant to the Compromise and Release Agreement executed November 25, 1996 and AS 23.30.095?

2. Is the employee entitled to payment for his expert witness expenses?

3. Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

This case involves the employee’s claim for medical expenses, incurred and continuing, for his August 16, 1990 back injury.  The employee was 41 years of age at the time of the injury. He had a history of back problems going back as far as the 1970’s.   At the time of injury, he was working as a bakery truck driver.  The injury occurred when he was holding a handle of a bread truck cart to lower himself to the ground and, as he was stretched out, he pulled his wet glove and hand out of the handle and fell six inches to the ground, landing on his tailbone.  


The employer accepted the claim and the employee received temporary total disability (TTD) from August 17, 1990 through March 27, 1992.  The employee continued to receive various types of medical care during the years after his injury.
  Ultimately, the employee signed a Compromise and Release Agreement on November 25, 1996 which settled all other aspects of his claim but left medical benefits open.  


Since his injury, the employee has received considerable medical care.  Board records of his medical care fill three banker’s boxes.  In the instant proceedings, he now seeks to recover for $9,729.37
 in unpaid medical expenses.  He also seeks unrestricted medical care in the future to treat his back problems.  Among the types of future medical care sought are prolotherapy, injections, medications, referral to a pain clinic, 3D CT scan, physical therapy and possibly surgery.  The employee also seeks payment for Dr. Barbee’s testimony supporting his need for additional medical care.  Dr. Barbee’s testimony was provided by phone at the hearing.  The employee also seeks attorney’s fees as he has had to again retain the services of counsel to help him recover for unpaid medical expenses which were incurred after the employer controverted benefits on March 12, 2002.   

             The following summary  provides an overview of the care received by the employee following the August 16, 1990 injury. The employee was initially seen at North Care and then by Paul Dittrich, M.D., the doctor who had performed an earlier cervical fusion on the employee in December, 1989.
  Dr. Dittrich then referred the employee to Robert Fu, M.D.  On November 19, 1990, Dr. Fu noted that physical therapy was worsening the employee's condition.  On November 26, 1990, Dr. Fu noted the MRI
 studies showed minimal degenerative disc disease at L5-S1.  On December 3, 1990, physical therapy was discontinued and it was recommended that the employee return to light duty work.
  

             In 1991, the employee continued to receive care for his back condition from Dr. Garner, who found the employee had a 22 percent whole person impairment. and recommended a TNS
 unit and an MRI study of the sacroliac area.
  Robert Kutzner,  M.D., also saw the employee, performed trigger point injections and recommended pain management for chronic pain behavior.
   The employee also saw Paul L. Craig, Ph.D., a clinical neuropsychologist, who concluded that the employee did not suffer from any neuropsychological deficits that would interfere with his return to work.
  On August 8, 1991, John McCormick, M.D., saw the employee and performed MRI studies of the pelvis and sacroliac joints.
  These were interpreted as normal.  From August 21, 1991 through October 23, 1991, the employee underwent a work hardening program.  He was placed at  light physical capacity upon discharge.
  Thereafter, on October 29, 1991, he began treating with Barry Matthisen, D.C.
  On December 30, 1991, Dr. Kutzner diagnosed the employee as suffering from "secondary myofascial syndrome in the lumbar paraspinous muscles," L5-S1 discogenic disease, bilateral sacroilitis, rule out T11-12 facet syndrome.  There was no mention of coccyx problems or spondylolysis.

              In 1992, the employee continued to see more doctors.  His chiropractic care continued early in 1992.
  On March 28, 1992, an Independent Medical Examination (IME) was performed by Richard Peterson, M.D., and Jerry Becker, M.D., of Western Medical Consultants, Inc.  He was diagnosed as suffering from chrondromalacia of the facets, secondary to contusion and sprain of lumbar spine and minimal degenerative disc disease changes in L5-S1 area.  He was noted to have disparity between his subjective complaints and the objective examination findings.  He was considered stationary and stable with minimal permanent partial impairment.  No further need for treatment was felt necessary. He was advised to avoid heavy lifting and twisting activities.
  On March 31, 1992, he was given a 15 percent whole person PPI rating by Sue Church.
  On April 16, 1992, the employee saw Shawn Hadley, M.D., who diagnosed chronic pain syndrome with symptom magnification, spondylolysis
 at the L5-S1 and degenerative disc disease at L5-S1.  No further chiropractic care was recommended.  The employee was felt to be stationary and stable, and able to work notwithstanding a 5 percent impairment to the lumbar spine.
  On May 28, 1992, Dr. Matthisen felt the employee was stationary and stable as of May 1, 1992.
  On September 24, 1992, Louis Kralick, M.D., of Anchorage Neurological Associates, found a 7 percent impairment.
  His report also noted an MRI done September 6, 1990 showing "minimal bulging of disk material at the L5-S1 level on the right, but without any evidence of significant herniation of disk material. No other abnormality was noted."  His report noted a second MRI on January 28, 1991 which showed only very subtle bulging of the disk at the L5-S1 level with no significant change in comparison to the initial study." 
 Dr. Kralick opined:

In my opinion, Mr. Platt is currently medically stable and I have no further treatment recommendations to offer him.  I do not feel that much benefit would be gained by his participation in a spinal rehabilitation program.  Mr. Platt appeared to get some symptomatic relief from his chiropractic treatment, but I am unable to determine whether this had a role in maintaining his functional capacity.  I don't feel that any further physical capacities evaluations are necessary.  Presently I feel that he could return to work in a light duty capacity.

At this point, the employee was paid permanent partial impairment (PPI) benefits from March 28, 1992 through October 12, 1992.

              On August 25, 1993, the Board issued a Decision and Order which addressed the employee's application for adjustment of his claim including seeking TTD benefits after March 27, 1992, additional PPI benefits, continuing chiropractic treatment, rehabilitation benefits and referral to a spine clinic outside of Alaska.
 The Board found that the employee was medically stable on March 28, 1992; that the employer correctly relied on Dr. Kralick's 7 percent whole person impairment rating in paying PPI benefits; that Dr. Matthisen's treatment was palliative and therefore the employer was required to pay for past medical bills for Dr. Matthisen as well as future palliative treatment and that the employee should be sent outside Alaska to a spinal clinic.  The issue of the employee's eligibility for reemployment benefits was remanded to the RBA for consideration of the employee's eligibility.

             The employee had no further medical care until the week of November 29, 1993, when James Reynolds, M.D., of SpineCare Medical Group, Inc., in California, diagnosed the employee as suffering from spondylolysis, L5-S1, and degenerative disc disease at L4-5 with possible instability.  He sought to rule out thoracic disc herniation and recommended further diagnostic studies. On November 23, 1993, the employee was felt to have slight anterior listhesis and spondylolysis at L5-S1.  Degenerative changes were noted while thoracic spine studies were unremarkable.  Cervical spine studies showed solid fusion at C5-6 and some degenerative changes at C4-5 and C6-7.  The employee also showed mild degenerative changes in the right hip.  MRI studies also showed a small central disc protrusion at L1-2 and a small central disc protrusion at L5-S1 with bilateral spondylolysis and mild spondylolisthesis.  The employee did not receive relief with injections.  On November 30, 1993, Dr. Reynolds opined that the sacroiliac joints were normal but there was questionable instability in the lumbar spine.  He recommended discontinuing any hands-on treatment.  He felt the employee was disabled secondary to pain.  He recommended exercises and possible fusion.
 On December 1, 1993, Ted Lowden, D.C., diagnosed probable instability secondary to spondylolisthesis and secondary intermittent S1 joint and facet joint dysfunction.

              Upon his return to Alaska, the employee was seen at Alpine Physical Therapy until  February 3, 1994.
  On April 19, 1994, Dr. Reynolds opined that further physical therapy or medical treatment would not benefit the employee.
  On April 28, 1994, the employee was determined eligible for reemployment benefits.
 The employee began working on a reemployment plan with a rehabilitation specialist.
  On June 8, 1994, Doug Smith, M.D., orthopedic surgeon, Anchorage Medical and Surgical Clinic, felt the employee suffered from chronic pain syndrome and spondylolisthesis.
  On June 16, 1994, the employee’s application for Social Security disability benefits was denied.

             On July 20, 1994, the employee filed an application for adjustment of his claim seeking TTD benefits for the period from March 28, 1992 through the present as well as recategorization of PPI and .041(k) benefits paid to TTD and a pain management program.  In the alternative, the employee sought permanent total disability benefits from March 28, 1992, and continuing.
  

             On August 14, 1994, Dr. Reynolds recommended a pain management program.
  On August 22, 1994, David Sperbeck, Ph.D., performed a psychological evaluation and determined that the employee suffered from a chronic pain disorder and that a pain clinic would not be useful.
  On December 28, 1994, Dr. Garner terminated treatment with the employee.

              On January 11, 1995, Eric Carlsen, M.D., of Alaska Rehabilitation Medicine, Inc. opined that the employee was not a surgical candidate and diagnosed the employee as suffering from chronic pain, obsessive compulsive personality, depression, spondylolisthesis L5-S1, degenerative disc disease at multiple levels of the spine, including at L5-S1 and T5-T7 and symptom magnification.  Dr. Carlsen recommended that the employee work with a physician experienced in chronic pain syndrome and receive psychological counseling.  He opined that a pain clinic would not be of benefit to the employee.
  On February 16, 1995, Glenn Ferris, M.D., diagnosed a mechanical injury to the T10 level of the spine. He recommended a Medrol DosePak and possible differential facet blocks and a facet injection in addition to possible internal fixation.
  From February 17, 1995 to November 10, 1995, the employee continued with chiropractic treatments with Woody Waldroup, D.C.
   On March 7, 1995, Dr. Ferris opined that the chiropractic treatment was helpful.
   On March 17, 1995, Dr. Ferris recommended a steroid injection.
  On March 27, 1995, the employee was seen for an occupational therapy evaluation.
  On May 24, 1995, Dr. Carlsen noted that the employee was stationary and stable as of April 1992 and would not benefit from further medical treatment.
  He opined that the thoracic spine complaints were secondary to degenerative changes and not the August 16, 1990 injury.
  On June 5, 1995, John Micks, Ph.D., C.R.C.C.S., Ability Design Associates, noted that the employee was able to work as a phlebotomist.
  The employee continued with chiropractic care.


In 1996, the employee saw Dr. Waldroup, who recommended further chiropractic treatment.
  On January 29, 1996, the employee saw Dr. Ferris who recommended further diagnostic testing.
  On January 29, 1996, Mark Barbee, D.C., felt the employee was not a candidate for physical work.
  

             The parties entered into a Compromise and Release Agreement (C & R) which was approved by the Board on November 25, 1996.  Under the C& R Agreement, medical care for the employee was left open pursuant to AS 23.30.095.  Although a rehabilitation plan had been prepared to train the employee for work as a phlebotomist, the employer terminated reemployment benefits as of January 2, 1996 after the employee refused to participate in the plan.
 At the time of this agreement, the parties also disputed the employee's need for medical care from practitioners other than Dr. Matthisen.  The employer asserted the employee's changes of physicians were not consented to and that treatment exceeded frequency guidelines set out in 8 AAC 45.082(f).
  In addition, the employer asserted that causation remained an issue and that these treatments were not necessarily shown to be related to the August 16, 1990 injury but rather may have been attributable to other injuries or to degenerative disc disease.
 In the agreement, the employee was paid $45,000.00 for TTD, TPD, PPI and PTD and rehabilitation benefits.  Dr. Ferris was designated as his treating physician.  Reemployment benefits were released.  Although the employee had been released to light duty work by Drs. Fu, Garner, Peterson, Kralick, Hadley, Carlsen and Matthisen and Drs. Carlsen and Reynolds signed off on a job description as a phlebotomist, as being within the employee's physical capabilities to perform, the employee refused to participate in the plan. He preferred to pursue his own employment opportunities.

              The employee saw Dr. Ferris on December 17, 1996, and he recommended facet blocks and a body jacket.
  On December 23, 1996, Dr. Ferris diagnosed a sacroiliac joint injury on the right and he noted that employee had re-injured his back when pulling on a steering wheel.

              The employee had injection treatment of the sacroiliac point on January 6, 1997 and Dr. Ferris recommended Soma on January 8, 1997.
  The employee had further facet blocks and sacroiliac joint blocks from January 10 through March 31, 1997.
  He then had no further treatment with Dr. Ferris after Dr. Ferris passed away.  According to the employee’s testimony at hearing, he used his mother’s left over arthritis medications after her death in 1999 to alleviate his back pain.

              On January 29, 2001, the employee returned to see Dr. Barbee on an "as needed" basis for his back.
  Dr. Barbee referred the employee to Daniel Armstrong, D.O., for rehabilitation and strength training.
   Dr. Armstrong's program caused the employee additional back pain and he continued to see Dr. Barbee.
  On August 14, 2001, the employee was referred by Dr. Barbee to Robert Rowen, M.D., who administered prolotherapy
 with some success from August 21, 2001 to November 20, 2001.
  The employee then saw Brian Lecompte, M.D., who took over Dr. Rowan's practice when he left the state from November 2001 to February 15, 2002 for more prolotherapy.
  The employee also continued to see Dr. Barbee periodically.

II.  DRS. NEUMANN AND PETERSON REPORT
              On March 8, 2002, the employee was seen by Holm Neumann, M.D., Ph.D., orthopedic surgeon, and Richard L. Peterson, D.C., chiropractic physician at the request of  the employer. The employee's chief complaint was noted as "low back, mid back, and tail bone pain."
  The report noted that the employee had obtained back and neck care as far back as the 1970's and that in 1990, he filed another claim on January 5, 1990 where he claimed a neck injury and also that his low back pain was attributable to an old 1972 injury.
  Thus, the employee was already under Dr. Dittrich's care at the time of the August 8, 1990 injury, which is the subject of the instant claim.  Dr. Neumann and Dr. Peterson reviewed the employee's medical history.

              After a physical examination, Dr. Neumann and Dr. Peterson diagnosed:

1. Spondylolysis, bilateral, lumbosacral spine, pre-existing claim incident of August 16, 1990.

2. Sprain/strain injury, thoracolumbar spine, secondary to incident of August 16, 1990.

3. Probable contusion of his coccyx, secondary to incident of August 16, 1990.

4. Degenerative disc disease and degenerative joint disease, multilevel, in the thoracic and lumbar spine as demonstrated on MRI studies.  This preexisted his incident of August 16, 1990.

5. Post-status cervical fusion and diskectomy at C5-6 for degenerative disc disease and degenerative joint disease in the cervical spine.  This is unrelated to his incident of August 15, 1990.

6. Possible sprain/strain injury of the cervical spine, secondary to incident of  August 16, 1990, but he has no formal documentation in the chart in the records immediately following that incident.


7. Chronic pain syndrome with his condition as well.


The Neumann and Peterson report goes on to observe that the chiropractic/medical treatment that is being rendered in connection with the August 16, 1990 claim is not reasonable and is not related to the injury but rather is related to degenerative disc disease and spondylolysis which may require palliative treatment.
  The report does not recommend further treatment in connection with the job injury.  It also declines to recommend any further therapeutic modalities or diagnostic procedures.
  It concludes that the employee's current symptoms are the result of his spondylolysis and degenerative changes in the thoracic and lumbar spine.
  In his deposition, Dr. Neumann testified that the employee's August 1990 injuries were not a substantial factor in the employee's conditions as noted during his March 2002 examination of the employee.
  Based on the results of the March 8, 2002 Neumann and Peterson report, the employer controverted further medical care for the employee.
  On  December 4, 2002, Drs. Neumann and Peterson reviewed their prior report and Dr. Barbee’s assessment and opined that the employee’s spondylolisthesis appeared three years after his 1990 injury and the spondylolysis was apparent several years before his 1990 accident and therefore was not caused by the 1990 work injury.  They further opined that as the spondylolisthesis appeared three years after the 1990 injury, it was not caused by it.

III.  AUGUST 12, 2002 CLAIM
              On August 12, 2002, the employee filed another claim seeking medical costs.
  The employer responded by asserting that the C & R extinguishes any claims arising from the August 16, 1990 accident.
  The employer also contends that the employee is not entitled to further medical treatment pursuant to the recommendations of the Neumann/ Peterson report.


On January 28, 2003, the employee had an MRI of the lumbar spine.  It showed:

(1) A 4 mm focal disk protrusion on the right at L5-S1 causing

slight posterior compression and deviation of the right S1 root.

(2) Normal alignment with sagittal images suggesting nondisplaced spondylitic defect of the posterior arch at L5.

(3) Mild diffuse annular degeneration elsewhere.


On January 27, 2003, the employee was seen by Susan Anderson, M.D., of Advanced Pain Therapeutics of Alaska.  She diagnosed bilateral lumbar facet arthropathy, L5-S1, lumbar discogenic pain at L5-S1, hypomobility at L5-S1 and SI joint dysfunction.

In a follow up visit on February 13, 2003, Dr. Anderson diagnosed right S1 radicular pain secondary to disc protrusion, L5, S1 discogenic pain and spondylitic defect on the poster arch of L5.
  She prescribed a right S1 selective  nerve root block, possible injection of the spondylitic defect and superior pars of S1 on the right, possible lumbar discography and expressed concern that possible hypermobility may lead to instability of the back.  Also considered was physical therapy before referral to a neurosurgeon.


The employee sought continued chiropractic care and pain management.
 On March 25, 2003, the employee filed a petition with the Board for a Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME).  His request for an SIME was granted by the Board in AWCB Decision No. 03-0148, issued June 26, 2003.

IV. SIME

The SIME was performed September 16, 2003 by Thomas Gritzka, M.D.  William A. Ross, D.C., examined the employee on September 9, 2003 and issued his report on September 17, 2003. Neil L. Pitzer, M.D., a rehabilitation medicine specialist,  saw the employee and issued his report October 7, 2003.  The following is a summary of their findings.  


Dr. Ross interviewed the employee, reviewed his imaging and other studies and performed a physical examination.  He concluded the employee suffered from isthmic spondylolysis L5-S1 on the right and possibly on the left, moderate degenerative disc disease in most of the lumbar spine, multiple levels of early degenerative disc disease in the thoracic spine and possible osteopenia.
 Dr. Ross opined that the employee’s low back was damaged from injuries the employee sustained prior to 1990.
  He believed that the 1990 injury was a temporary aggravation of the employee’s preexisting back condition.  He found the employee to be suffering from thoracic problems due to degenerative disc disease.  Dr. Ross did not believe that the proposed treatment such as prolotherapy, physical therapy and/ or injections was relevant to the employee’s condition.  He did not recommend continuation of chiropractic care for the employee.  He did not recommend spinal fusion at present and in the future only if the employee’s back became stable at the L5 level.  He did not believe the employee’s 1990 injury would be a substantial factor in any need for surgery in the future.  He did suggest a laminectomy of the L1 S1 area which he believed would relieve the employee’s low back pain.  He also recommended an evaluation for osteoporosis.


Dr. Pitzer saw the employee and rendered his report on October 7, 2003.  He reviewed the employee’s medical records. He also performed a physical examination of the employee.  He felt the employee did not demonstrate evidence of lumbosacral radiculopathy or significant spinal instability.  He felt the employee would be a poor candidate for lumbar fusion.  He felt the L2-L3 spondlyolisthesis was not related to his 1990 work injury.  He did not believe that the employee’s 1990 injury was a significant factor in his current condition.
 He agreed with Dr. Neumann’s assessment.  He disagreed with Dr. Barbee’s assessment that the injury caused progressive degeneration.  He felt the degenerative changes and spine complaints were related to the progression of degenerative changes.  He did not think the ongoing chiropractic, prolotherapy, physical therapy or injections were currently indicated.  He did not support a recommendation for spinal fusion or surgery.  After the evaluation, he was subsequently given more information to review including Dr. Neumann’s deposition and Dr. Gritzka’s report.  These sources did not change his opinion.  He stated:  “I do not feel that this alleged injury would have caused a significant back problem which would have precluded Mr. Platt from working for the past 13 years.”


Dr. Gritzka saw the employee and issued his report on September 18, 2003.  Dr. Gritzka performed a record review as well as examining films, x-rays, MRI’s and other objective indicators of the employee’s condition from his medical records.  Dr. Gritzka diagnosed the employee as suffering from “kissing spine syndrome.”
  This diagnosis is based on the x-ray of the employee’s pelvis on November 23, 1993.
   It is also shown on the January 23, 2003 x-ray of the lumbar spine.
  This condition may be caused by degenerative disc disease, trauma and/or genetic predisposition. This condition is diagnosed largely by history of back pain
 and x-ray. He reached this conclusion after reviewing the employee’s medical records, including review of x-rays, MRI’s, CT scans and related reports.  Dr. Gritzka noted that in the x-rays taken prior to the August 16, 1990 injury, the employee has well preserved intervertebral disks at the L4-5 and L5-S1 level with no intervertebral disk protrusion.  He also noted that there was no spondyloisthesis at L5-S1.
  Dr. Gritzka diagnosed bilateral L5 spondylolysis, “kissing spines” L4-5/L5-S1, rule out spondylolysis or spondylolisthesis with minor instability mid to lower thoracic spine, rule out costovertebral joint instability mid thoracic spine and psychological factors affecting physical condition.
  Dr. Gritzka found that the 1990 injury did aggravate and combine with the employee’s preexisting condition to produce a disability and need for treatment.  He believed that the 1990 injury combined with the employee’s antecedent L5 spondylolysis and that he probably had “kissing spines” and a minor anomaly of the L4, L5 and S1 spinous processes as well.  He went on to say:


Subsequent to the event of August 16, 1990, the claimant has had an ongoing symptom of “crunching” with lumbar extension (probably manifestation of the spinous processes rubbing on each other) and a popping sensation with right hip flexion, which is probably caused by torsion of the locked spinous processes (i.e. the bifid transverse process of L4 and the transverse process of L5) which subluxates or because of tortion associated with hip flexion.


He also since August 16, 1990, has developed a feeling of pain, clicking, and instability in the mid thoracic area which has not been, in my opinion, fully investigated but may well represent a minor anomaly at about the T6 to T8 level of the thoracic spine.


With regard to the natural progression of the claimant’s preexisting spondylolysis, spondylolysis in and of itself may be a painful condition.  It is a relatively common abnormality being found in about 1 in 20 people or 5 percent of the human population.  Most of the time it is asymptomatic but under certain conditions or if sprained or strained the spondylitic defect may become symptomatic.  I think that the claimant’s recurrent back pain, starting in 1972 and up to 1990 was caused by his antecedent spondylolysis.  However, the event of August 16, 1990 changed the claimant’s symptom complex, probably by causing a minor instability of the lower lumbar spine.  I do not think he has progressed to a significant spondylolisthesis at L5-S1.

           Dr. Gritzka went on to note that the employee did not have any significant disc herniation.  He agreed with Dr. Neumann that the August 16, 1990 injury did not cause spondylolisthesis but Dr. Gritzka believes that the injury did aggravate the employee’s spondylolysis and caused some instability which resulted in the symptomatology resulting from the proximate spinous processes resulting in a “kissing spine syndrome.”
  He did not believe the employee should have chiropractic care even on a palliative basis.
  He does not recommend spinal fusion surgery although the employee may be a candidate for surgery in the future.  If he does have surgery, Dr. Gritzka believes the August 16, 1990 injury is a substantial factor in causing the condition which would warrant surgery.  According to Dr. Gritzka, the injury is also a substantial factor in causing the spinal functional unit instability at L4-5 and at L5-S1.
  Dr. Gritzka made recommendations as to the surgery and follow up if it were performed.  He also recommended 3-D CT scan reconstruction in neutral, flexion and extension postures and a radioactive bone scan.  If the employee were to receive a PPI rating, Dr. Gritzka would find 13% of the whole person.


             On December 19, 2003, Dr. Gritzka issued an addendum to his evaluation after receiving additional information and records.  He noted that others who examined the employee did not discuss the significance of “kissing spine syndrome.”  Dr. Gritzka reiterated that he found a difference in the employee’s symptoms after the August 16, 1990  injury as compared with his symptoms before the injury.  Dr. Gritzka also asserted that MRI scanning is not a good way to evaluate spondlyolisthesis and spondlyolysis.  Finally, Dr. Gritzka modified his PPI rating to apportion five percent, of the 13 %, to the  August 16, 1990 injury.

Dr. Gritzka also testified by deposition.  He explained the “kissing spine syndrome” diagnosis which he believes became symptomatic as a result of the August 16, 1990.  He reviewed the reports of Drs. Ross, Neumann and Pitzer and disagreed with their opinions.  He recommended further surgery for this condition.  He explained that the injury caused the kissing spine as shown in x-rays performed in the years after the injury which show sclerosis where the spines are in contact and arthritic change between the spinous processes.
  He also recommended the course of treatment Dr. Anderson was providing, i.e. 3D CT scan, physical therapy, medications and participation in a pain clinic.  He also recommended injection therapy and a bone scan but not chiropractic treatment.

V.  2004 TREATMENT
            Dr. Anderson continued to treat the employee in 2004.  In an undated report issued after the employee saw Dr. Gritzka, Dr. Anderson recommended “CT 3D reconstruction of lumbar spine…include sacrum…in neural flexion, extension.”


On January 15, 2004, the employee again saw Dr. Anderson.  She recommended ruling out the “kissing spinous processes,” and diagnosed right S1 radicular pain secondary to disk protrusion, L5-S1 diskogenic pain, spondylitic defect of the posterior arch at L5 and possible pseudoarticulation of the transverse processes, L5 on S1, on the right.
 She recommended the CT 3D reconstruction of the lumbar spine and a bone scan.  


On January 22, 2004, the employee again saw Dr. Anderson.  His bone scan was reviewed and noted to have increased activity in the right sacral wing.  This prompted Dr. Anderson to recommend additional films and an MRI.
 The employee’s bone scan corresponded with the pseudo articulation site on the right with transverse process of L5 in the sacrum.  It was recommended that the employee’s thoracic spine be evaluated, that he be scheduled for an L1-2 transforminal epidural steroid injection as well as injection of the pseudo articulation on the right at L5 and that 3D reconstruction of the lumbar spine with flexion, rotation and extension to determine instability.  More physical therapy was also recommended.


On February 6, 2004, the employee received the bilateral L1-2 transforaminal epidural steroid injections.
  On March 4, 2004, plans were made for injection of the right L5 transverse process in sacral pseudoarticulation.
  The injection was performed the following day.

VI.  DR. BARBEE'S OPINION
             Dr. Barbee is the physician who has had the most contact with the employee.  For this reason, his opinions and reports are set out in a separate section.  Dr. Barbee has seen the employee off and on since 1996.  He is the employee’s treating physician.  Dr. Barbee again saw the employee on October 11, 2002.  He reviewed the Neumann and Peterson report.  He opined that the employee's injury "…constituted adding insult to injury when it came to the pre-existing spondylolysis.  This more than likely resulted in the spondylolysis evolving into spondylolisthesis and likely accelerated this process."
 He went on to state:

              It is well known that when trauma is interjected into an area of spondylolysis it can result in anterior displacement and increased injury to the area.  This injury would be greater than you would normally expect were the area normal to start with.  Consequently, Mr. Platt's condition has evolved into a chronic and intractable situation for which there is considerable treatment from various physicians evident in the record.  Mr. Platt has had manipulation, physical therapy as well as prolotherapy and epidural steroid injections in an attempt to relieve this chronic irritation.

              I disagree with Dr.'s Neuman and Peterson’s conclusion that Mr. Platt's current symptoms are due to his pre-existing spondylolisthesis and degenerative disc disease.  It is an established fact that if a trauma is superimposed upon conditions such as degenerative disc disease and spondylolisthesis this results in a much worse prognosis and greatly liklihood of chronicity than if the spine were normal to start with.  I do feel that Mr. Platt needs ongoing care for the sequelae of these injuries and that this would be reasonable in light of his history.

              When Dr.'s Peterson and Neumann examined Mr. Platt on March 8, 2002, they noted that his lumbar range of motion was 12 degrees flexion, 10 degrees extension, 20 degrees right lateral bending and 26 degrees left lateral bending. It should be noted that according to the Fifth Edition Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment by the American Medical Association a 10 degree extension measurement constitutes a 5% Whole Person Impairment.  A right lateral bending measurement of 20 degrees, according to the Guides, would Rate a 1% Whole Person Impairment as well.  This would be combined for a permanent impairment of at least 8% Whole Person Impairment based on range of motion alone.  Dr.'s Neuman and Peterson failed to mention that these findings are significant as they represent a significant loss of normal lumbar range of motion.  It is quite probable that this was due to the impact trauma  which occurred when he fell on August 16, 1990.

In his deposition taken December 17, 2002, Dr. Barbee further discusses the nature of the employee's condition and Dr. Neumann and Dr. Peterson's evaluation saying:

…their position is that he's got these conditions, he already had them, so he's just going to have all this back pain anyway, so the injury is not even related to any of it.

…And I disagree with that.  I feel that, like I said several times earlier, it represents  a pre-existing weakness that when you superimpose or subject it to trauma it's going to have a worse prognosis and is going to cause more injury than you would have without it.  I mean I don't know how many times I can say that or how many other ways I can say that.
  


Dr. Barbee also opined that the employee needed prolo therapy and pain management and that these treatments were required to address his August 16, 1990 injury.
  In arriving at his opinions, Dr. Barbee reviewed the employee’s medical records, x-rays and MRI’s.

VII.  HEARING TESTIMONY

Dr. Mark Barbee testified on behalf of the employee as to his current need for further back care.  As his treating physician,  he has made referrals for the employee for pain management.  He considers the employee’s condition to be complex including disc protrusion, degenerative disc disease, spondylosis,  spondlyothesis and “kissing spine”.  He believes that the 1990 work injury caused aggravation to the employee’s preexisting back problems.  He disagrees with doctors who have examined the employee and diagnosed a sprain or strain.  He opines that the employee had preexisting structural weakness and his August 16, 1990 injury aggravated his preexisting condition.  The resulting condition creates greater opportunities for chronic pain syndrome to occur, according to Dr. Barbee.  Dr. Barbee opined that without the work injury, the employee might have had a back problem which was asymptomatic.  According to Dr. Barbee, in order to treat his condition, he will need a multifactorial approach to medical care to allow treatment with various options.  Dr. Barbee observed that the methods for treating back conditions have progressed since 1996 and more rehabilitation and strengthening modalities now exist.  Dr. Barbee observed that the employee has a hyper mobile spine with spondylolysis.  He noted that review of the employee’s x-rays shows areas where the spine shows bone almost meeting bone.  


The employee testified on his own behalf.  He acknowledged use of marijuana for pain control in the past up until January 15, 2004.  He also indicated that he has not worked since the 1990 injury except for one day as a census taker which proved to be too painful for him.  He claims $785.84 in litigation expenses.
  He claims he needs to be in pain management as Dr. Anderson who was managing his pain management program is leaving town.  He claims the following past unpaid outstanding medical expenses:


Providence Alaska Medical Center


$376.00       (The                                                                               








employee has paid $120 to date).


Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska


$3,309.00 (The employee has 









paid $150 to date.)


Alaska Imaging Associates



$311.00
(The employee 









has paid 130 to date.)


Providence Alaska Medical Center (Seattle)

$2,046.00 (The employee paid 









$100 to date).


Susan Anderson, M.D.




$125.00 (New billing as of 









6/21/04)  Mr. Platt paid 









$227 to date.


NCO Financial Systems, Inc.


Alaska Regional Hospital


Mr. Platt paid this off using his credit card.                  $2,265.00


He now pays $100 per month for the


Payment plus interest.  He has paid $700


to date.


Mark Barbee, D.C.




$622.00


New bill





$65.00


Elizabeth Cole, M.D.




$98.00


Medications





$44.62


Jay Van Houten, D.O.




$120.00









$9608.62


$120.75









$9,729.37

The employee explained that he kept his medical benefits open when he negotiated the Compromise and Release Agreement in 1986 so that his future medical needs related to his back condition would be covered.  The employee also maintains that his treatment should be open without restriction because no one knows at this point what would be required to treat the “kissing spine syndrome.” Part of this uncertainty relates to the progress in developments in treating complex back conditions and better options for rehabilitation.


The employee’s representative claimed attorney’s fees amounting to $7,540 for 25.5 hours of work at $200 per hour for the period from May 20, 2003 until July 20, 2004.

He claims actual attorney’s fees should be awarded where the employee’s records span a 14 year time period and include one prior hearing, several prehearings, four depositions and the SIME process.

           The employer claims that the employee’s August 16, 1990 injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current need for medical treatment.  The employer relies on the reports of numerous doctors who have seen the employee including, most recently, Dr. Neumann and Dr. Peterson, Dr. Ross and Dr. Pitzer, who have determined that the 1990 injury is not a substantial factor in the employee’s current need for medical care.  The employer also asserts that the thoracic back condition is not work related and the proposed care recommended is not medically reasonable or necessary.
  The employer also claims that if the Board finds that the employee’s “kissing spine syndrome” is related to the 1990 injury, the only reasonable treatment for this condition should be trunk stabilization exercises.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.  APPLICABLE LAW

The insured worker is afforded a presumption that all benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the employer's evidence is examined in isolation.


There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
 "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.


The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of approving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.

II.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, we find that                                                                                                      the report of Dr. Gritzka and the opinions of Dr. Barbee are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability.  The Board finds that this evidence is sufficient to establish a “preliminary link” between the work accident and the employee’s claims for benefits.
   


Turning to the second stage of the presumption analysis, we find burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.  The Board examines this evidence in isolation.  The Board finds that the employer has rebutted the presumption of compensability with respect to the employee’s need for additional medical treatment for his spine condition based on the March 8, 2002 Neuman and Peterson report as well as Dr. Ross’ and Dr. Pitzer’s evaluations.


Turning then to the third stage of the presumption analysis, we find that the reports of Dr. Gritzka and the opinions of Dr. Barbee establish that the employee would benefit from additional medical treatment including, but not limited to, a 3D CAT scan,  radiology discogram, prolotherapy, injections, medications, physical therapy, pain management and possibly surgery.  We base our determination in part on the evolution of treatment modalities for injured back conditions.  We also find that Dr. Gritzka diagnosed a “kissing back” condition which differs from the diagnoses rendered regarding the employee’s back problems in the past.  For this reason, we believe revisiting the employee’s  treatment may prove beneficial to the employee.  The Board finds that the employee has established by a preponderance of the evidence that his back condition is compensable as it is related to the work injury of August 16, 1990.

III.  MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:


The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires.... It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the Board.  The Board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require


The statutory presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits.
  If continued treatment or care or both beyond the two year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right to review by the Board.  The Board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  


Based upon the presumption analysis and the Board’s authority to authorize treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require under AS 23.30.095(a), the Board will order compensation of the employee’s incurred medical expenses totaling $9,729.37.


We also believe that the thorough report and deposition of Dr. Gritzka and the opinions, reports and testimony of Dr. Barbee require that the employee to obtain further treatment for his lumbar and thoracic back condition. Dr. Gritzka reviewed the employee’s films including x-rays and MRI’s.   Dr. Barbee treated the employee for eight years and, as his treating physician, is knowledgeable about the employee’s back condition and treatments.  We adopt the findings of these two doctors and we further find that their recommended treatment is reasonable and necessary to address the employee’s condition.  This treatment includes, but is not limited to, prolotherapy, radiology discogram, injections, medications, 3 D CT Scan, physical therapy, pain management and possibly surgery.  We find that this treatment may well be of benefit to the employee given the development in recent years of more sophisticated treatment modalities for persons with serious back problems.  We include thoracic care in addition to lumbar care in view of the complexity of the employee’s back problem and our wish to not unduly limit the employee’s treatment options. 

III.  ATTORNEY’S  FEES AND COSTS
AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:


(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.           


8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:

(d)(1) An request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended....

           The Board finds the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee was resisted by the employer.
   The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee under subsection AS 23.30.145(b) for the benefits obtained.  The Board found the employer liable for the employee's benefits.  The employee’s attorney represented him in the successful prosecution of his claim.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs.
  

          Subsection 145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee to be reasonable.  The Board has examined the record of this case, and the employee's written itemization of fees and costs.  Having considered the degree of success of the attorney's representation, the nature and length of the services provided, and the tenacious resistance of the employer, we find that the fees claimed are reasonable for the employee’s successful prosecution of this claim.
  The employee’s counsel bases his claim on 25.5 hours of service at $200 per hour for the time period from May 20, 2003 through July 20, 2004.    This case has been complex and involved including two SIME’s, one prior hearing four depositions and several prehearings.  On this basis, we will award $7,540.00 in reasonable attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b).   

         AS 23.30.145 also addresses costs incurred in litigation. 8 AAC 45.180 (f) provides, in 

part:


The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating 
that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. 

Under AS 23.30.145(b) and 8 AAC 45.180(f), an employee who successfully prosecutes his claim is entitled to reasonable legal costs incurred in the prosecution of that claim.  This claimant has successfully prosecuted his claim.  He claims $785.84 in legal costs and $500.00 for Dr. Barbee’s testimony.  The Board will allow the claim for legal costs.

ORDER
1. The employee is entitled to payment for his medical expenses for care for his lumbar and thoracic spine without restriction pursuant to the November 25, 1996 Compromise and Release Agreement and AS 23.30.095.

2.       The employee is entitled to payment of  $9,729.37 in medical expenses which have been incurred but not paid prior to the hearing.

3. The employee is entitled to $500.00 in witness fees for Dr. Barbee’s testimony pursuant to 8 AAC 45.180(f)(5).                         . 


4.         The employee is entitled to attorney’s fees of $7,540.00 for services rendered by his counsel from May 20, 2003 through July 20, 2004.  He is also entitled to $785.84 in litigation expenses.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 4th  day of August,  2004.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD







____________________________                                






Rosemary Foster, Designated Chair







____________________________                                






Patricia Vollendorf, Member

DISSENT OF STEPHEN T. HAGEDORN:


I dissent from the opinion of my colleagues that the employee’s medical expenses, incurred and continuing should be paid.  Although I agree that consideration of Dr. Gritzka’s and Dr. Barbee’s testimony is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability, I believe the doctors’ opinions considered at the second stage of the presumption analysis are sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.  This includes the opinions of Drs. Pitzer, Ross, Neumann and Peterson who find that the employee’s back condition is no longer related to his 1990 job injury.  Even if the third stage of the presumption analysis were to be reached, I do not believe the employee has established his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


I question whether after 14 years, the employee could still be needing medical care for a condition which occurred as a result of his 1990 job injury.  At some point, we should find that he can no longer benefit from further treatment at the employer’s expense particularly where, as here, the employee has medical reports of treatment filed with the Board which fill three banker’s boxes.


I am also concerned that the employee admits to self-medicating for his back including use of his mother’s arthritis medications after her death in June 1999.  He also acknowledges using marijuana up until January 15, 2004.  He now wants us to believe he is clean and sober and should be referred for further treatment at a pain clinic?


Through the period since the employee’s injury in 1990, he has not worked except one day as a census taker.  It seems to me that there should be some type of gainful employment the employee could have undertaken.  He also could have availed himself of training programs including vocational rehabilitation or reemployment benefits but he did not do so.  This behavior continues in spite of the fact that several doctors have released him to light duty work.


For these reasons, I believe his claim should be denied.







____________________________                                  






Stephen T. Hagedorn, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of MICHAEL D. PLATT, employee / applicant, v. CONTINENTAL BAKING COMPANY (SUNRISE BAKERY), employer, and CONSTITUTION STATE SERVICE COMPANY, insurer / defendants; Case No. 199025383; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska,  this  4th  day of August,  2004.

                             

   _________________________________

      




                     Robin Burns, Clerk
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�  See summary of medical care for the years 1990 through 2004  below.


�  The employee’s total for unpaid medical expenses is $9,608.62 plus $120.75 in interest 


�  November 26, 1996 Compromise and Release Agreement at 1.


� magnetic resonance imaging


� Compromise and Release at 2.  See Fu release to light duty work with restrictions including no bending or twisting.  Fu December 3, 1990 report.


� transcutaneous neurostimulator


� Gardner March 5, 1991 report.


� Kutzner December 30, 1991 report at 6.


� Craig  August 7, 1991 report at 7.


� McCormick August 8, 1991 report.


� Kathleen Lind, OTR, MHA, Work Therapy Enterprises, Inc. at 5-6.


� B. Matthisen October 29, 1991 report.


� Kutzner December 30, 1991 report at 6.


� B. Matthisen January 9 and 22, 1992 and  February 10 and 18, 1992, March 10 and 23, 1992 reports. 


� Peterson and Becker March 28, 1992 report at 5.


� Sue Church March 31, 1992 report.


� Spondylolysis is a bilateral "crack" in arch of bone.  Neumann dep at 13. Spondylolistthesis is slippage of the spine. Neumann Dep. at 22.


� Hadley April 16, 1992 report at 5-6.


� B. Matthisen May 29, 1992 report.


� November 26, 1996 Compromise and Release Agreement, at 2.  Kralick September 24, 1992 report at 3.


� Kralick September 24, 1992 report at 2.


� Id.


� Platt v. Sunrise Bakery and Continental Bakery,  AWCB Decision No. 9025383 (August 25, 1993).


� Reynolds November 30, 1993 report at 3 and 4.


� Lowden December 1, 1993 report at 3.


� Gary McCarthy, LPT, Alpine Physical Therapy  February 15, 1994 letter.


� April 19, 1994 Reynolds letter.


� Mickey Andrew RBA Designee April 28, 1994 letter.


� Jon C. Deisher, Vocational Management Consultants September 28, 1994 letter.


� Smith June 8, 1994 report at 3.


� July 20, 1994 Application for Adjustment of Claim.


� Reynolds August 16, 1994 report.


� Sperbeck  August 16, 1994 report at 3-4.


� Garner December 28, 1994 report.


� Carlsen January 11, 1995 at 4 and 5.


� Ferris February 16, 1995 report at 4.


� Waldroup reports from February 17 through November 10, 1995.


� Ferris March 7, 1995 report.


� Ferris March 17, 1995 report.


� Heidi Clifford, OTR/L, Sisters of Providence March 27, 1995 report.


� Carlsen May 24, 1995 report at 2.


� Id.


� Micks June 5, 1995 letter.


� Dimond Chiropractic Center November 28, 1995 report.


� Waldroup January 24, 1996 letter.


� Ferris January 29, 1996 report.


� January 29, 1996 Barbee, Dimond Chiropractic Center report at 2.


� Micks January 2, 1996 letter.


� November 26, 1996 Compromise and Release Agreement at 6.


� Id. 


� Id. at 8.


� Ferris December 17, 1996 report at 2.


� Ferris December 23, 1996 report.


� Ferris January 6, 1997 report and Ferris January 8, 1997 letter.


� Ferris reports from January 10, 1997 through  March 21, 1997.


� Barbee January 29, 2001 report.


� Armstrong  May 18, 2001 patient progress report.


� Barbee March 26,  April 18, May 8 and 29, July 11 and July 31, 2001 reports.


� injections to strengthen muscles and ligaments See Gritzka dep at 24


� Rowen August 14, 2001 report


� The employee was also seen by Elizabeth Cole, M.D. at the Complementary Medicine Center between the time Dr. Rowan left and Dr. LeCompte took over the employee's care.


� Barbee November 20, 2001, January 2 and 10, 2002 and February 18, 2002 reports


� Neumann and Peterson March  8, 2002 report at 1.


� Id. at 3.


� Id., at 10.


� Id. at 11.


� This includes prolotherapy.  Neumann dep.at 37.


� Id., at 12.


� Neumann dep. at 34.


� March 12, 2002 Controversion Notice.


� December 4, 2002 Neumann and Peterson letter


� August 12, 2002 claim.


� Answer to Employee's Workers' Compensation Claim filed September 16, 2002, at p. 2.


� January 28, 2003 MRI by Lawrence P. Wood,  M.D.


� January 27, 2003 Anderson report at 3


� February 13, 2003 Anderson report


� Id.


� Employee May 28, 2003 brief, at 3.


� Any condition presenting less bone than normal.  


� September 17, 2003 Ross report at 6


� October 7, 2003 Pitzer report at 13


� December 31, 2003 Pitzer letter


� A term that describes the contact of the spinous processes of the part of the vertebrae that stick out in back touching each other when the individual leans backwards or extends their spine. February 13, 2004 Gritzka dep. at 5-6


� September 18, 2003 Gritzka report at 22


� Id. at 23


� The employee complained of clicking and crunching of his back after the injury and only back pain before the injury.  The injury caused acceleration of his degenerative disc disease and further loss of disc space height. Gritzka dep at  13


� September 18, 2003 Gritzka report at 22-3


� Id.


� Id. at 24


� Id. at 25


� Id. at 27


� Id. at 28


� December 19, 2003 Gritzka letter at 7


� Gritzka dep at 11


� Undated Anderson report


� January 15, 2004 Anderson report


� magnetic resonance imaging


� January 22, 2004 Anderson report


� February 6, 2004 Anderson report


� March 4, 2004 Anderson report


� March 5, 2004 Anderson report


� Mark Barbee, D.C. October 11, 2002 report.


� Id. at 2.   


� Barbee dep at 71.


� Id. at 65-66


� Id. at 67-70


� Costs include depositions for Dr. Gritzka and Mr. Platt, medical records, copies, mailings and supplies.


� July 20, 2004 Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney Fees


� July 14, 2004 Brief of the Employer and Carrier at 2


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279. (Alaska 19   )


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981)


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985)


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74


� Louisiana Pacific v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991)


� Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316


� Id., Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978)


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991)


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994)


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964)


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)


� Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 582 P.2d 392 (Alaska 1979) 


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978)


� Thompson v. Aleyeska Pipeline Service Company, AWCB Decision No. 98-0315 (December 14, 1998)
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